THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2012-CP-10-7594  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001230

**RECEIVED**

DEC 04 2018

**SC Court of Appeals**

One Belle Hall Property Owners Association, Inc., and  
Marvin T. Meek and Francis E. Hill, individually and  
on behalf of all others similarly situated,.....

Respondents,

v.

Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC, .....

Appellant.

---

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

C. Mitchell Brown  
SC Bar No. 012872  
E-Mail: mitch.brown@nelsonmullins.com  
William C. Wood, Jr.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Was Builders' motion for set off timely such that the trial court had and this Court has jurisdiction to address the motion?
2. Is Builders entitled to set off all or parts of the settlements of codefendants for the same product liability claims and alleged damages asserted against it?
3. Did Plaintiffs preempt Builders' right to set off under South Carolina law by purportedly unilaterally limiting their claimed damages at trial?
4. Must set off be pled as an affirmative defense and did Builders' properly assert a request for set off or otherwise waive the right to seek a set off?
5. Is a special verdict form required to apply set off or is set off properly applied to a general verdict where the verdict is on claims and for injuries alleged against and settled by codefendants ?
6. Does the fact that settlement amounts paid by codefendants for all claims and injuries asserted against them may include other claims and other injuries not asserted against Builders completely preclude setting off some portion of the settlements which also settled common claims and injuries asserted against those codefendants and Builders?
7. Did Builders contractually waive its right to set off?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed suit in this construction defect case on November 19, 2012. (Compl.) The original complaint named two plaintiffs, the property owners association and an individual owner, six individual defendants, and Jane and John Does.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*) It contained a general factual section alleging "latent building defects," "repeated water intrusion," and other general consequential damage to the One Belle Hall buildings and other property. (Compl. ¶¶ 25-25.)

---

<sup>1</sup> The Jane Does were identified as affiliates of Tramell Crow Residential ("TCR") and its named affiliates (collectively the "TCR defendants"). (Compl. ¶¶ 10-20.) The John Does were identified as "subcontractors and/or other entities" involved in some aspect of the construction or sale of One Belle Hall besides the one named, alleged stucco supplier, First Exteriors, LLC (Compl. ¶¶21-23.)

The first three claims alleged products liability under the three theories of negligence, breach of warranty, and strict liability. (Compl. ¶¶ 10-13.) Of those, the first two claims – negligence and strict liability—were pursued against “all Defendants.” (Compl. pp. 10, 11.) The third – strict liability – was asserted against First Exteriors and the John Doe subcontractors and other entities tied to the construction and sale of One Belle Hall. (*Id.*, p.12.) The remaining claims were asserted against the TCR Defendants only. None of the seven theories of liability asserted contained any distinctive specification of damage suffered beyond the common, general statements in the “Factual Allegations” section of the brief. *Cf.* Compl. ¶¶ 56-57 (Negligence); 62 (Breach of Warranty); 69-70 (Strict Liability); 76 (Breach of Fiduciary Duty); 91 (SCUPTA); p. 17 (Prayer for Relief).<sup>2</sup>

Over the course of approximately two years and three months three amended complaints added new parties, whether plaintiffs or defendants, and dropped Does. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC (“Builders”) was added as a defendant in the first amended complaint filed December 31, 2013, for the first three product liability claims-- negligence, breach of warranty, and strict liability (1<sup>st</sup> Amend. Compl. p. 1 & ¶¶ 9, 44, 118.) Builders answered and denied all liability in that and all subsequent iterations of the complaint. (Builders’ Answ. 1<sup>st</sup> Amend. Compl.)

With the filing of the third amended complaint on February 9, 2015, thirteen TCR Defendants and thirty-four “other” defendants had been added to the case (3<sup>rd</sup> Amend. Compl., pp. 1-2, ¶¶ 11-72). All of the defendants were included in the negligence and breach of warranty products claims. (*Id.* pp. 20-22.) Builders, plus BASF Corporation, Raymond

---

<sup>2</sup> The fifth and seventh claims against the TCR Defendants for veil piercing and reformation of the master deed contained no damage claims.

Building Supply Corporation d/b/a Energy Savings Products of Florida, Inc. a/k/a Energy Savings Products of Florida, and TAMKO Building Products were named under the strict liability products claims. (3<sup>rd</sup> Amend. Compl. p. 23.)

Over the course of the amendments, the first three product liability claims never changed except parties were added or subtracted from the strict liability claim.<sup>3</sup> Basic factual allegations regarding One Belle Hall, the alleged defects, damages, and delicts never changed.<sup>4</sup>

By the time of trial beginning August 29, 2016, every defendant except Builders was no longer active in the case. Most had settled and been dismissed from the case. (*See, e.g.*, Order, 4/19/16 (dismissing the 13 TCR Defendants and 21 other defendants.) Defendant TAMKO was severed from the matter (Order, 7/20/16), and later settled after trial. (Order.)

Trial began August 29, 2016, with jury selection. Following testimony on August 30 through the day of September 1, the jury received the case at 6.25 p.m.<sup>5</sup> (Trial Tr. p. 742.) The jury returned a verdict at 10.20 p.m. against Builders for \$2,163,493.00.<sup>6</sup> (Trial Tr. pp. 743-44.)

---

<sup>3</sup> For the strict liability theory, First Exteriors, LLC was the only expressly named defendant in the original complaint and was identified as the stucco installer. (Compl. ¶¶ 21, 64-66.) It was subsequently dropped from the strict liability claim in the first through third amended complaints.

<sup>4</sup> *Cf.* Compl., ¶¶ 1-6 (opening); 25-35 (factual allegations); 52-57 (negligence); 58-62 (breach of warranty); 63, 64-67 (strict liability); and 3<sup>rd</sup> Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 2-7 (opening); 73-84 (factual allegations); 109-113 (negligence); 114-118 (breach of warranty); 119, 124-131 (strict liability).

<sup>5</sup> A severe storm was predicted to strike Charleston the next day, September 2, and the court was to be closed that day.

<sup>6</sup> The verdict amount exactly matched, except for fifty-five cents, Exhibit 325(f), a repair estimate by Builders' expert that included repairs to the entire One Belle Hall complex, much of which had no causal connection to the alleged defective windows supplied by Builders.

On September 8, 2016, within ten days of the verdict, trial counsel filed Builder's motion for set off and to compel production of the co-defendants' settlement agreements in aid of that purpose. (Mot. Set Off.) On September 12, again within ten days of the verdict (per SCRCP 6), Builders filed its Rule 59 motion for JNOV and new trial.<sup>7</sup> (JNOV/NT Motion.) Subsequently, the trial court entered judgment on the verdict. The judgment was filed on September 22, 2016, but was expressly dated by the circuit court as "9/1/2016 nunc pro tunc," the date of the verdict. (Judgment.)

After briefing, the trial court heard arguments on the set off and JNOV/new trial motions on November 18, 2016 and again on April 20, 2017. At the first hearing, Builders' counsel orally renewed the set off motion in response to Plaintiffs' argument that the written motion did not adequately or timely raise the set off issue. (11/18/16 Hrg. Tr. pp. 30-31.)

The trial court denied the motion for set off. (Order, 11/16/17.) Builders moved to alter or amend the order. (Mot. To Alter or Amend. ) The trial court ordered Plaintiffs to produce the settlement agreements between it and any settling co-defendants. (4/20/17 Hrg. Tr. pp. 64-68.) Ultimately, however, it denied the motion without elaboration. (Order, 6/27/18.) Builders received notice of the entry of the order on June 28, 2018, and served its notice of appeal on June 29, 2018. (Notice of Appeal.)

---

<sup>7</sup> Builders' Rule 59 motion was subsequently substantially reduced in scope when it was discovered upon obtaining the trial transcript that trial counsel did not make a clear or comprehensive directed verdict motion at the end of all the evidence (Trial Tr. p. 639.), and made a truncated, oral JNOV motion without asserting any new trial grounds immediately after the verdict (Trial Tr. p. 748) rather than requesting a ten day period to file such motions in writing as was understood by undersigned counsel retained to work on post-trial motions and appeal. The circuit court, despite multiple hearings, has issued no order on the reduced JNOV motion. It remains pending.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Builders supplied the windows for the One Belle Hall project. It did not design or manufacture the windows. It did not install the windows. It was not asked to and did not select the windows for use at One Belle Hall. (*See generally*, Trial Tr. pp. 470-79.) It did not design the window openings. The outside edge of the sill of the windows as designed by the architect and installed by others was not flush with the outer wall, but was inset several inches into the exterior wall of the buildings. (Trial Tr. pp. 372-73, 531-32; Ex. 39.) Builders did not install the exterior finishes above, at the sides of, or under the windows as installed. Builders placed the order for the windows with the manufacturer, Energy Savings Products of Florida, n/k/a Raymond Building Supply, as specified by the general contractor, a TCR defendant, and the windows were drop-shipped to the One Belle Hall site.<sup>8</sup> (Trial Tr. pp. 471-79.)

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs entered into settlements with substantially all of the defendants totaling almost 9.5 million dollars.<sup>9</sup> None of the settlement agreements attempted to allocate the settlement amounts for any particularly identified damages at One Belle Hall or for any particularly theory of liability that might have been alleged against any particular defendant. In

---

<sup>8</sup> There was disputed evidence whether the windows were the ones specified by the architect and whether they met the Charleston-area building codes. The local building authorities apparently did not object to their use during building inspections as there was no evidence offered of work being stopped or the windows rejected. Because of the general verdict, there is no indication of how the jury may have resolved this conflicting evidence.

<sup>9</sup> The thirteen settlement agreements produced to Builders, some of which released multiple defendants, are individually marked as confidential. They are reproduced under seal separately in volume \_\_\_ of the Record on Appeal, pp. \_\_\_\_\_ - \_\_\_\_\_ for the use of the Court. Due to the confidential designation of each agreement, Builders' discussion of the agreements in this statement of facts only notes common, general characteristics of the agreements and does not quote specific provisions.

some situations where multiple defendants were released, the settlement agreement made no effort to allocate a common settlement amount among the released parties. The settlement agreements generally simply referenced the unspecific allegations of liability and damages contained in the general fact section of the complaints as discussed, *supra*, pp. 1 - 3.

At trial, despite Plaintiffs' counsel's opening statement that Builders was the only remaining defendant and that only the "window damage portion" of the claimed total damages would be addressed (Trial Tr. p. 186), no witness claimed to be able to distinguish damage caused above, around, or below the windows supplied by Builders solely as a result of any alleged defect in the windows and the exact same damage in the exact same areas caused by defects in the products and work of other defendants. Plaintiffs' expert specifically disclaimed the ability or effort to do so. (Trial Tr. p. 361-62.) Plaintiffs, who bore the burden of proof on damages, made no effort to distinguish the alleged damages recoverable under on as opposed to another of any of the three product liability theories of recovery asserted against Builders as well as every other settling defendant in the case.

Despite Plaintiff's claim that the case was only about Builders' responsibility for the "window damage," at no time before, during, or after the verdict did Builders orally or in writing ever waive an argument or concede that any element of damage was solely its responsibility nor its right to set off Plaintiffs' settlements with co-defendants for the same alleged claims and damages against any verdict or judgment that might be obtained against it.<sup>10</sup> The record is devoid of any such concession by Builders.

---

<sup>10</sup> For an example of what such an agreement might look like, see *The Oaks at Rivers Edge Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Daniel Island Riverside Developers, LLC*, 420 S.C. 424, 433-34, 803 S.E.2d 475, 480 (Ct. App. 2017)(quoting from a settlement memorandum in which appellants specifically acknowledged they might not "receive credit on the judgment for amount[s] paid by [other defendants] ....").

Rather, the trial record is replete with argument and evidence that the damage claimed by Plaintiffs was indivisibly caused or contributed to by settling codefendants. Thus, Plaintiffs' window expert testified that both water and untreated or mistreated termites caused damage to the walls about the windows. (Trial Tr. 256, 267.) The expert testified to cracked stucco that allowed water penetration. (Trial Tr. 256.) He testified that leaks occurred "through the balconies," (Trial Tr. 256), some of which were above the windows at issue (*See* Trial Tr. 219-220.) He noted damage associated with the vertical control joints in the stucco. (Trial Tr. 257.) Some of those control joints directly intersected with the window openings. (Trial Tr. 366-70.) The expert noted misapplied or missing sealants around the windows that allowed water to penetrate around the window, not simply through it. (Trial Tr. 275, 362-63.) He noted inadequately installed flashing around the windows that allowed water to penetrate the wall. (Trial Tr. 275.)

Plaintiffs' expert expressly admitted that water in the walls at One Belle Hall came in through "broken sealants between the window and the stucco" that left "joints and cracks" for water penetration (Trial Tr. 356); through improper waterproofing (*id.*); and through "improper or missing flashing" either because the installer failed to put in correctly or at all or the architect didn't call for it where needed. (Trial Tr. 356-57, 364, 365.) Plaintiffs' expert took issue with the window installation methods. (Trial Tr. 360.) He also tested the roofing for water leakage and found such leaks into the buildings at One Belle Hall. (Trial Tr. 360; *see also* 364 (noting defectively installed flashing allowing leakage at the roof line.)) He opined that water penetrated through the brick-portion of the exterior. (Trial Tr. 371.) He further admitted that the recessed design of the windows contributed to water leakage into the walls under the windows. (Trial Tr. 372.) Plaintiffs' expert made no effort to compute the

percentage of damage that could be attributed to the windows supplied by Builders versus other sources of leakage. (Trial Tr. 361-62.)

The testimony of Builders' expert only confirmed the indivisible nature of the claimed damages. (See Trial Tr. pp. 529-545 (identifying cracked stucco at the window, cracked or separated sealants around the windows, inset window design, missing or improper flashing, missing sealant between the windows and the brick exterior, deficiencies in the water management system behind the brick veneer, improper and out-of-square mounting of the windows in the framed window openings, and construction dirt and debris clogging the window weeps as causes of damage around the windows). Plaintiffs' counsel's own cross-examination revealed the multiple causes of the damage:

Q. There could be multiple causes of problems correct?

A. Oh, there are definitely multiple causes.

Q. In fact there can be two causes of the problems on the windows correct?

A. Sure.

Q. Water from different sources can combine to cause damage correct?

A. Sure.

(Trial Tr. pp. 569-70.)

As to the breach of warranty claims, the testimony established that all of the warranties given by individual defendants like Builders as to their products or services to the TCR Defendants, the developers of the project, were simply passed through to the One Belle Hall owners. (Trial Tr. p. 204-05, 211-12; Exhibits. 162, 31.) No evidence was offered by Plaintiffs segregating or distinguishing how one defendant's breach of warranty that led to water intrusion damaged the areas around the windows as opposed to water intrusion into the

same areas due to alleged breach of the warranty with respect to the windows Builders supplied.

In argument and through the verdict form, Plaintiffs asserted that under all three theories of products liability asserted against Builders, the damages were the same. (Trial Tr. pp. 676-77.) Counsel admitted that there were other leak sources that contributed to the damaged areas around the windows. (Trial Tr. 677-78; 701-02.) In closing argument Builder's counsel reiterated the indivisibility of the damages and the lack of testimony segregating the damage allegedly caused by the windows from the damage caused by other defects above, around and below the windows. (Trial Tr. 693-94.) The jury charges—correctly—informed the jury that there could be more than one proximate cause. (Trial Tr. 716-17.) Nothing about the general verdict rendered purported to isolate damages alleged caused by Builder's windows from the damage caused in and around the windows by other codefendants' alleged defective work or products.

## ARGUMENT

The circuit court's order denying set-off is divided into eight parts. Each of the eight parts is infected with factual or legal errors regarding the timeliness of Builders' motion for set-off, the timelessness of post-trial motions and, consequently, the appellate courts' jurisdiction, and the substantive law of set-off. Each is addressed in turn. For the reasons stated below and before the trial court, the judgment of the circuit court should be vacated and the settlements of codefendants set off against the judgment as required by law.

**1. The circuit court's holdings in Part I of its order regarding the timeliness of the motion for set-off, the timeliness of post-trial motions, and this Court's jurisdiction ignores the text of its own judgment and is in direct conflict with controlling precedent.**

**A. Builders' motions were timely filed in light of the *nunc pro tunc* entry of the judgment.**

The first part of the circuit court's order is factually and legally incorrect. The verdict was rendered on September 1, 2016. Within ten days of that verdict, Builders filed two motions. It filed Defendant's Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel and Motion for Determination of Set-Off.<sup>11</sup> Builders also filed a Motion for Judgment, New Trial Absolute, or Alternatively for New Trial Nisi Remittitur pursuant to SCRCP 50 and SCRCP 59.<sup>12</sup>

The circuit court's order correctly states that the judgment was filed September 22, 2016, but fails to expressly note that the judgment was dated "9-1-2016 nunc pro tunc." SCRCP 58(a)(1) specifically states that the judgment upon a general verdict shall be "forthwith

---

<sup>11</sup> This motion was filed September 8, 2016. (Motion for Set Off.)

<sup>12</sup> This motion was filed September 12, 2016. (Motion for JNOV/NT.) As of the date of the filing of this brief, the circuit court has not acted upon this motion though its holdings on the motion for set-off that are the subject of this appeal would suggest that it would deny the motion on timeliness grounds.

prepare[d], sign[ed], and enter[ed]....” In this case, the verdict was not delivered until 10:20 p.m. at night (Trial Tr. pp. 743-47), and the trial adjourned at 10:30 p.m. A severe storm was anticipated the next day and no one wished to remain any longer than necessary. The circuit court’s *nunc pro tunc* order filed September 22 but effective back to the date of the verdict was entirely consistent with Rule 58.

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