THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Diane Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-10-7594  
Appellate Case No.: 2018-001230

**RECEIVED**

AUG 21 2019

**SC Court of Appeals**

One Belle Hall Property Owners Association, Inc., and Marvin T. Meek and Francis E. Hill,  
individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC,

Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

JUSTIN O'TOOLE LUCEY, PA  
Justin O'Toole Lucey (Bar No. 15438)  
Dabny Lynn (Bar No. 78703)  
Anna McCann (Bar No. 102314)  
415 Mill Street

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

Despite its caption, I Corp.’s second motion was not a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion. The motion did not ask the trial court to rule on an issue presented but not ruled upon in any previous motion. . . . Notwithstanding its caption, the second motion did not ask for relief available pursuant to Rule 60, SCRPC. Rule 60 allows a motion for relief from the judgment based on a number of specific grounds. . . The second motion raised none of these grounds. . . I Corp. argues on appeal that the second motion was required to preserve issues raised, but not ruled upon, in the

---

this Motion as a Rule 59(e) Motion and then try to bootstrap a separate Motion to Compel (which was also not made per Rule 59) into the tolled-appeal window afforded to Rule 59(e) Motions.

<sup>14</sup> During trial, I-Corp moved for directed verdicts on Quality Trailer’s three claims (violation of bulk transfers act, promissory estoppel and successor liability), one of which was granted (bulk transfers act) and two of which were not (promissory estoppel and successor liability).

<sup>15</sup> I-Corp captioned its Second Motion as a motion to “Alter, Amend or Reconsider Judgment and Findings Denying Defendant’s Motion for [JNOV] and Motion for New Trial” (“Second Motion”). The caption of the Second Motion indicated it was made pursuant to Rules 52, 59 and 60, SCRPC, and the relief requested was tailored to match; however, in all other aspects, I-Corp’s Second Motion duplicated its First Motion. Like I-Corp, BFS’s Second JNOV Motion is not, in substance, a Rule 59(e) Motion. (R. pp. 4494-4505).

trial court's order denying JNOV and new trial. The second motion did not, however, identify a single issue raised but not ruled upon. . . The trial court's denial of the JNOV and new trial motions was a ruling on all issues raised, and preserved for appellate review all issues raised therein.

*Id.* at 220-21, 562 S.E.2d 617-18 (emphasis added); *see also Elam*, 361 S.C. at 21, 602 S.E.2d at 778 (“affirming principles set forth in *Coward Hund*, *Quality Trailer*, and *Collins Music*” and noting “[w]e view the use of oral or written JNOV/new trial motions, followed by an initial Rule 59(e) motion, as part and parcel of a party’s ‘single bite at the apple’ in presenting his case.”) (emphasis added); *Collins Music Co. v. IGT*, 353 S.C. 559, 579 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding written post-trial motion, which followed post-trial motion made at the end of the trial, was an improper successive motion); *Coward Hund Construction Company v. Ball Corporation*, 336 S.C. 1, 518 S.E.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding post-trial motion successive because it “did not challenge a new ruling”) (emphasis added).<sup>16</sup>

*Quality Trailer* and its progeny “clearly stand for the proposition that a successive post-trial motion” is only proper in a limited context: it must arise “as a result of an order following an initial post-trial motion that alters or amends the judgment.” *Collins*, 353 S.C. at 564, 579 S.E.2d at 526 (emphasis added); *Coward Hund*, 336 S.C. at 3, 518 S.E.2d at 58 (“A second motion. . . is

---

<sup>16</sup> To the extent BFS relies on the case of *Fields versus Regional Medical Center Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 609 S.E.2d 506 (2005) to argue its Second JNOV Motion is not successive, the Association notes the circumstances in *Fields* are distinguishable from those here because: (1) BFS did not renew its directed verdict motions whereas *Fields* did; (2) BFS did not request ten days to file a written JNOV Motion whereas *Fields* did; and, (3) BFS did not support its first JNOV Motion with specific grounds whereas *Fields* did. Notably, the *Fields* Court also did not find the entirety of the second JNOV Motion at issue there proper; rather, the Court found only certain grounds, relating to evidentiary rulings, were properly raised because only these grounds were stated in support of the first JNOV Motion. Where, like here, no specific grounds are raised in support of an initial JNOV Motion, it follows that all grounds newly raised in a second JNOV motion are improper.

appropriate only if it challenges something that was altered from the original judgment as a result of the initial motion. . .”) (emphasis added).

Here, however, there is no order altering or amending judgment. There is only the circuit court’s denial of BFS’s first JNOV Motion and its Final Order entering an unaltered judgment. (R. p. 22; 744:2-12) *see Elam*, 361 S.C. at 20, 602 S.E.2d at 788 (“An appeal may be barred due to untimely service of the notice of appeal when a party, instead of serving a notice of appeal, files a successive Rule 59(e) motion” where a court’s ruling on an initial Rule 59(e) Motion does not substantially alter the judgment); *Coward Hund*, 336 S.C. at 3–6, 518 S.E.2d at 58–59 (dismissing an appeal as untimely because a successive Rule 59(e) motion did not stay the time for appeal when the court’s order denying the first Rule 59(e) motion did not alter judgment).

### 3. **BFS’s Second JNOV Motion is Otherwise Procedurally Precluded**

First, BFS’s Second JNOV motion was not grounded in a directed verdict motion made at the close of all evidence as required. *See* Rule 50(b), SCRCPC (“Whenever a motion for a directed verdict made at the close of all the evidence is denied. . . [a party] may move to have the verdict and any judgment entered thereon set aside and to have judgment entered in accordance with his motion for a directed verdict”) (emphasis added). When a defendant fails to move for directed verdict at the close of all evidence, appellate courts are precluded from reviewing both (1) the denial of prior directed verdict motions; and, (2) any subsequent JNOV Motion. This Court, in *Wright versus Craft*, explained as follows:

When a defendant moves for a directed verdict. . .at the close of the plaintiff’s case, he must renew that motion at the close of all evidence. . .Otherwise, this court is precluded from reviewing the denial of the motion on appeal. . .Craft moved for a directed verdict at the close of Wright’s case but failed to renew the motion after concluding his presentation of evidence. Consequently, the denial of Craft’s motion is not preserved for our review. Concomitantly. . .[w]hen a party fails to renew a motion for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence, he waives his right to move

for JNOV. Because Craft did not renew his motion for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence, there is no JNOV motion to review.

*Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 496 (Ct. App. 2006); *see also RFT Mgmt. Co., LLC v. Tinsley & Adams, L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E.2d 166, 170 (2012) *quoting Wright*; *State v. Bailey*, 368 S.C. 39, 43, 626 S.E.2d 898, 900 (Ct. App. 2006) (noting a defendant must move “for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence in order to appeal the sufficiency of the evidence.”) (emphasis added).

Here, like in *Wright*, BFS moved for directed verdict at the close of the Association’s case, but did not renew its motion at the close of all the evidence. *Compare* (R. pp. 491:15-494:19) *with* (R. p. 635:9-10) (The circuit court asking BFS if it had any motions at the close of the evidence, and BFS responding “No”). BFS’s failure to renew its directed verdict motions at the close of all evidence procedurally bars this Court from considering BFS’s Second JNOV Motion. *Wright*, 372 S.C. at 20, 640 S.E.2d at 496.

Second, BFS failed to request ten days to file its Second JNOV Motion. *See, e.g.*, Rule 50(e), SCRPC (“The [JNOV Motion] shall be made promptly after the jury is discharged, or in the discretion of the court not later than 10 days thereafter”) (emphasis added); Rule 59(b), SCRPC (“The motion for a new trial shall be made promptly after the jury is discharged, or in the discretion of the court not later than 10 days thereafter.”) (emphasis added);<sup>17</sup> *Boone v. Goodwin*, 314 S.C. 374, 444 S.E.2d 524 (1994) (noting “a request to file post-trial motions must be made promptly after the jury is dismissed”) (emphasis added). Because BFS did not request leave to its file post-

---

<sup>17</sup> The Official Notes accompanying the 1986 Amendment to Rule 59 further clarify this point: “In jury trials, post-trial motions are made promptly at the end of the trial, or at that time the court, upon motion, may grant an additional ten days to make them.” (emphasis added).

trial motions as required by applicable court rules, this Motion is improper and not preserved for appellate consideration. Rules 50, 59, SCRCP.

**4. BFS's *Ellis* and *Tilley* Arguments are Without Merit**

BFS relies on two cases, *Ellis* and *Tilley*, in support of its argument that its self-described “setoff motion” (which, in reality, is a motion to compel), was timely. (BFS Brief at 11-13) *citing* *Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 355 S.C. 361, 585 S.E.2d 292 (2003); *Ellis v. Oliver*, 335 S.C. 106, 515 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 1999). BFS’s reliance is misplaced for multiple reasons.

First, neither *Ellis* nor *Tilley* involve an unchallenged verdict or an untimely Notice of Appeal. *Tilley*, 355 S.C. at 366-67, 585 S.E.2d at 294-95 (“The Court affirmed summary judgment on the issue of liability and remanded for a determination of damages. This appeal was taken following the circuit court’s damage determination [which included deciding Pacesetter’s setoff request]”) (emphasis added); *Ellis*, 335 S.C. at 109-10; 515 S.E.2d at 269-70 (indicating Doctor Oliver immediately appealed the “jury award” and “during the pendency of his appeal, he filed a motion seeking to reduce the jury’s award by the amount of the settlement [Ellis] received from [the hospital].”) (emphasis added).

Second, *Ellis* involved a “negligence action” with joint “tortfeasors” and the settlement amount ultimately subtracted from Ellis’s jury award equaled the hospital bills incurred by Ellis as a result of the hospital’s negligence. *Ellis*, 335 S.C. at 109; 515 S.E.2d at 269. Here, negligence is not at issue because BFS was not found liable in negligence.<sup>18</sup>

Third, *Tilley* does not concern alleged joint-tortfeasors or even multiple defendants; rather, the single Defendant (“Pacesetter”) sought equitable setoff for amounts Pacesetter itself had already effectively paid to Plaintiffs by virtue of writing-off Plaintiffs’ debts. *Tilley*, 355 S.C. at

---

<sup>18</sup> And, as discussed in Section D, *supra*, BFS is also not a joint “tortfeasor”.

376-7, 585 S.E.2d at 299-300 (“Pacesetter should be allowed to setoff the award by the amount of principal Pacesetter has written off per class member.”). Equitable setoff is not at issue here because BFS **has never made a motion for equitable setoff**. Compare (R. p. 37) (“[BFS’s] Motion specifically limits itself to statutory setoff, not equitable. In addition to not requesting equitable setoff in its [M]otion, BFS never plead equitable setoff in any of its three Answers.”) *with* (BFS Brief at 12) (acknowledging *Tilley* involved equitable setoff). Because BFS never raised “equitable” setoff before the circuit court, this issue is not preserved and this Court should disregard BFS’s equitable arguments.

Fourth, *Tilley* involved a setoff motion actually made between the liability and damages phases of trial. *Tilley*, 355 S.C. at 377, 585 S.E.2d at 300 (“[W]e see no reason why Pacesetter cannot request setoff before the circuit court during the damages portion of the case.”) (emphasis added). Since there was a setoff motion made in *Tilley* before the damages phase of trial which the circuit court ruled on before calculating the judgment, *Tilley*, like *Smith*, stands for the proposition that setoff is to occur before the judgment is entered. *Tilley*, *Smith*, *supra*. This is contrary to BFS’s main argument that a court may decide setoff at any time – with or without a motion being made.

**C. The Law of the Case Doctrine and Two-Issue Rule Mandate that the Circuit Court be Affirmed**

BFS’s procedural errors prove fatal to BFS’s entire appeal because no argument BFS asserts can change the fact that the \$2,163,493 judgment stands.

**1. The Judgment Stands Because it’s the Law of the Case**

First, the judgment stands because it is the law of the case. Under the law of the case doctrine, an unappealed ruling cannot be changed on appeal. *Atlantic Coast Buildings and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“While [a trial court’s] calculation of damages may have been incorrect, an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law”

of the case.”) (emphasis added); *Jasdip Properties SC, LLC v. Richardson*, 395 S.C. 633, 641, 720 S.E.2d 485, 489 (Ct. App. 2011) (“The unappealed finding of the jury. . .right or wrong, is the law of the case.”); *First Union Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998), *cert. denied* (June 18, 1998) (an unchallenged ruling “precludes consideration on appeal”); *Continental Ins. Co. v. Shives*, 328 S.C. 470, 474, 492 S.E.2d 808, 810 (Ct. App. 1997) (appellate court must assume an unappealed ruling is correct).

Here, there were only two “judgment rulings”: (1) the Final Order entering the judgment; and, (2) the circuit court’s oral denial of BFS’s first JNOV Motion. BFS did not timely appeal the Final Order and does not appeal the denial of its first JNOV Motion. (R. pp. 4673-4675). As such, the judgment stands as the law of the case and it’s procedurally impossible for this Court to reverse the judgment because BFS did not challenge it. *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421-22, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“[D]ifferent preservation rules apply to an *appellant*—the losing party in the lower court. An appellate court may not, of course, reverse for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”) (emphasis in original and added).

## 2. The Judgment Stands Under the Two-Issue Rule

Second, the judgment stands under the two-issue rule because the jury returned a general verdict that involved two or more issues and the verdict is supported as to at least one of these issues (breach of express warranty). *See Gold Kist, Inc. v. C & S Nat’l Bank*, 286 S.C. 272, 282,

333 S.E.2d 67, 73 (Ct. App. 1985) (under the two-issue rule, when a jury returns a general verdict involving two or more issues, and the verdict is supported as to one issue, the verdict stands).<sup>19</sup>

The jury awarded the Association \$2,163,493 on separate causes of action: strict liability and breach of warranty. As such, the Association may rely on either breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty or strict liability in the context of analyzing whether the jury's verdict is supported despite BFS's setoff arguments. Breach of express warranty sounds in contract,<sup>20</sup> and is not subject to setoff under the joint tortfeasor statute. (R. p. 31) *Atkinson v. Orkin Exterminating Co.*, 97-CP-10-775 (S.C. Ct. Com. Pl. June 7, 2007) ("Atkinson Order")<sup>21</sup> (holding the defendant was not entitled to setoff on an action sounding in contract) *aff'd*, 361 S.C. 156, 604 S.E.2d 385 (2004) (finding the defendant was not entitled to a setoff because the case involved duties arising out of two independent contracts).<sup>22</sup> Because setoff is not applicable to breach of express warranty verdicts, and the jury here returned such a verdict against BFS, the total damages the jury awarded (and the circuit court also entered) stands regardless of whether setoff is applicable to the jury's strict liability or breach of implied warranty verdict.

Assuming the circuit court's "invocation of the two-issue rule [was] legally erroneous" because it "can only be invoked on appeal" as BFS contends, this error was harmless because this

---

<sup>19</sup> See also *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 406, 378 S.E.2d 30, 34 (2008) ("The [two-issue] rule is consistent with the established notion that the appellate courts in this State exercise every reasonable presumption in favor of the validity of a general verdict.") (citations and quotations omitted).

<sup>20</sup> A seller's express warranty sounds in contract. S.C. Code § 36-2-313 (1976) ("Any affirmation of fact or promise made by the seller to the buyer which relates to the goods and becomes part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the goods shall conform to the affirmation or promise."); *Herring v. Home Depot, Inc.*, 350 S.C. 373, 379, 565 S.E.2d 773, 776 (Ct. App. 2002) (In a products defect case, "[b]reach of warranty is an action affirming the contract.").

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